Effect of Candida glabrata β -glucans on immunosuppressive properties of dendritic

cells



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Microbiology (Interdisciplinary Program) Medical Microbiology,Interdisciplinary Program GRADUATE SCHOOL Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2022 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ผลของเบต้ากลูแคนส์ของแคนดิดากลาบราตาต่อคุณสมบัติการกดภูมิคุ้มกันของเดนไดรติกเซลล์



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ (สหสาขาวิชา) สหสาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2565 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	Effect of Candida glabrata eta -glucans on
	immunosuppressive properties of dendritic cells
Ву	Miss Phawida Tummamunkong
Field of Study	Medical Microbiology (Interdisciplinary Program)
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor PATCHAREE RITPRAJAK, D.D.S., Ph.D.

Accepted by the GRADUATE SCHOOL, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the GRADUATE SCHOOL (Associate Professor YOOTTHANA CHUPPUNNARAT, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

ภาวิดา ธรรมะมั่นคง : ผลของเบต้ากลูแคนส์ของแคนดิดากลาบราตาต่อคุณสมบัติการ กดภูมิคุ้มกันของเดนไดรติกเซลล์. (Effect of *Candida glabrata* β -glucans on immunosuppressive properties of dendritic cells) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : รศ. ทญ. ดร.พัชรี ฤทธิ์ประจักษ์

เบต้ากลูแคนส์เป็นคาร์โบไฮเดรตประกอบด้วยโครงสร้างที่ตำแหน่ง 1, 3 และ 1, 6 อยู่ใน ผนังเซลล์ของแคนดิดากลาบราตา ทำหน้าที่เป็นตัวกระตุ้นเชิงชีวภาพต่อกลไกการตอบสนองของ ระบบภูมิคุ้มกัน เดนไดรติกเซลล์ทำหน้าที่นำเสนอแอนติเจนอย่างมีประสิทธิภาพโดยมีบทบาท ้สำคัญทั้งระบบภูมิคุ้มกันแบบไม่จำเพาะและจำเพาะ วัตถุประสงค์ของงานวิจัยเพื่อศึกษาผลการ ตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มกันวิทยาของเดนไดรติกเซลล์ต่อเบต้ากลูแคนส์ของแคนดิดากลาบราตา เดนได รติกเซลล์ที่กลายมาจากเซลล์ไขกระดูกและถูกกระตุ้นด้วยเบต้ากลูแคนส์ที่ความเข้มข้นแตกต่างกัน พบการแสดงออกที่มากขึ้นอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติที่ระดับ 0.05 ของสัญลักษณ์ซีดี-80, -86, -40 และเอ็มเอชซีทู รวมไปถึงพบการตอบสนองของเดนไดรติกเซลล์มีผลต่อการผลิตอินเตอร์ลิวคิน 10 ให้เพิ่มขึ้นอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติที่ระดับ 0.05 อีกทั้งเดนไดรติกเซลล์ที่ถูกกระตุ้นด้วยเบต้ากลู แคนส์มีส่วนส่งเสริมการผลิตอินเตอร์ลิวคิน 10 ที่ผลิตจากที-เซลล์ อินเตอร์ลิวคิน 10 เป็นไซโตไคน์ ที่ทำหน้าที่ส่งสัญญาณยับยั้งกระบวนการอักเสบและส่งเสริมกระบวนการกดภูมิคุ้มกัน นอกจากนั้น ผลวิจัยเบื้องต้นพบว่าเบต้ากลูแคนส์ของแคนดิดากลาบราตามีผลต่อการลดระดับปริมาณของ แอนติบอดีที่ต่อต้านดีเอ็นเอของตัวเอง (anti-(double-stranded)-DNA antibodies) ในหนูที่เป็น ้สัญลักษณ์ของโรคลูปัส (*Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice) ผลงานวิจัยนี้แสดงให้เห็นว่าเบต้ากลู แคนส์ของแคนดิดากลาบราตาสามารถเหนี่ยวนำสภาวะการกดภูมิคุ้มกันในเดนไดรติกเซลล์และที-เซลล์ รวมไปถึงอาจจะเป็นประโยชน์ต่อการบรรเทาอาการของโรคลูปัสในหนูทดลอง

สาขาวิชา	จุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ (สห	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	สาขาวิชา)	
ปีการศึกษา	2565	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

6480012020 : MAJOR MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY (INTERDISCIPLINARY PROGRAM)

KEYWORD: Candida glabrata, β -glucans, Dendritic cells, T cells, Immunosuppression Phawida Tummamunkong : Effect of *Candida glabrata* β -glucans on immunosuppressive properties of dendritic cells. Advisor: Assoc. Prof. PATCHAREE RITPRAJAK, D.D.S., Ph.D.

 β -glucan is a polysaccharide and consists of the backbone of β -(1, 3)-glucan and/or β -(1, 6)-glucan structures. β -glucans are extracted from the cell wall of *Candida* sp, including Candida glabrata. Interestingly, the biological activity of Candida β -glucan has been represented as a stimulator in the mechanism of immune responses. Dendritic cells are powerful antigen-presenting cells that play a significant role in both innate and adaptive immunity. In the present study, we evaluated the effect of C. glabrata β -glucans on dendritic cell (DC) immunologic responses. Firstly, bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) were induced with C. glabrata β -glucans in a dose-dependent manner. The expression of CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHCII in BMDC markedly increased after stimulation. C. glabrata β -glucan-stimulated BMDCs significantly enhanced the production of immunosuppressive cytokine, interleukin-10 (IL-10). Secondly, BMDC after stimulation could promote a high level of IL-10 secretion by T cells. IL-10 plays a critical role in limiting the inflammatory immune response and its ability to mediate the immunosuppressive response. Furthermore, the level of serum anti-(double-stranded)-DNA antibodies promisingly decreased in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice after *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization in an *in* vivo experiment. Our results imply that C. glabrata β -glucans have the induction of immunosuppressive responses in dendritic cells and T cells and may be beneficial for the amelioration of lupus disease.

Field of Study:	Medical Microbiology	Student's Signature
	(Interdisciplinary Program)	
Academic Year:	2022	Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author sincerely appreciates the advisor Assoc. Prof. Patcharee Ritprajak, D.D.S., Ph.D. Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University for the positive learning environment and everything that taught and supported me. The author thanks Truc Thi Huong Dinh for the extraction of microparticulate β -glucans and the Oral Biology Research Center, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University for providing support with research equipment and facilities. Also, the author appreciates the scholarship from the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University (the 72nd anniversary of his Majesty King Bhumibol Aduladej) for the tuition support.



Phawida Tummamunkong

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
	iii
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iii
	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER I	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II	5
HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE	5
Research questions	5
Hypothesis	5
Research objectives	5
CHAPTER III	6
LITERATURE REVIEW	6
β-glucans	6
Sources of $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans	7
Candida $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans	8
C. glabrata and C. albicans $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans	

Dendritic cells	11
Role of dendritic cells and T cells in response to C. glabrata eta -glucans	13
Lupus disease and <i>Fcgr2b</i> knockout lupus-prone mice	16
CHAPTER IV	17
METHODOLOGY	17
Conceptual framework	17
Experimental design	17
CHAHTER V	18
MATERIALS AND METHODS	18
Animals	18
Preparation of microparticulate $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans (mp- $oldsymbol{eta}$ G)	18
Generation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs)	19
Stimulation of BMDCs with Candida glabrata eta -glucans	20
Flow cytometry analysis	20
Cytokine measurement	21
In vitro dendritic cell and T cell coculture assay	21
In vivo study in Fcgr2b ^{-/-} lupus-prone mice	22
Ex vivo re-stimulation assay	24
Assessment of cell proliferation	25
Statistical analysis	25
CHAPTER VI	26
RESULT	26
Effect of C. glabrata eta -glucans on dendritic cell viability and CD11c	
expression	26

Effect of C. glabrata eta -glucans on dendritic cell maturation	.29
BMDC stimulated with <i>C. glabrata</i> $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans had a differential impact on the production of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines	<u>-</u> .32
Expression of T cells in response to C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans stimulated BMDCs	;. .35
BMDC stimulated with C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans had a differential impact on the cytokine production in T cells.	<u>∍</u> .38
Effect of C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans on the development of anti-dsDNA antibodie in Fcgr2b ^{-/-} lupus-prone mice	es .40
Effect of <i>C. glabrata</i> $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans on cell proliferation in splenocytes and lymp node cells of <i>Fcgr2b^{-/-}</i> lupus-prone mice.	h .41
Expression of T cells from splenocytes and lymph node cells in Fcgr2b ^{-/-} lupus-prone mice in response to C. glabrata eta -glucans immunization	.43
Cytokine production in T cells from splenocytes of <i>Fcgr2b^{-/-}</i> lupus-prone mic	e. .46
CHAPTER VII	.48
DISCUSSION β -glucans had a differential impact on the dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production	.48
C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans-stimulated BMDCs had a differential impact on the cytokine production in T cells.	.50
The alteration of lupus disease in response to C. glabrata eta -glucans in Fcgr2 $'$ lupus-prone mice	?b⁻ .51
APPENDIX A	.54
MATERIALS AND EQULPMENT	.54
APPENDIX B	.56

BIOLOGICAL/CHEMICAL AGENTS AND REAGENTS	56
APPENDIX C	59
REAGENTS PREPARATION	59
REFERENCES	62
VITA	72



Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1 The timeline of C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucan and apoptotic bodies immunization...23



LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1 Sources of $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ -glucans
Figure 2 Recognition of Candida species by various PRRs on innate immune cells9
Figure 3 Structural organization and composition of C. albicans cell wall11
Figure 4 Overview of T helper subsets15
Figure 5 Evaluation of CD11c $^+$ cell proportion, CD11c expression, and live BMDC in
response to C. glabrata β -glucans
Figure 6 The percentage of differential phenotypic BMDC maturation after
stimulation with C. glabrata eta -glucans
Figure 7 The geometric mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of differential phenotypic
BMDC maturation after stimulation with C. glabrata eta -glucans
Figure 8 Measurement of cytokines in C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs34
Figure 9 Dot plot analysis of the expressions of T cell markers in response to C.
glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs
Figure 10 Effect of C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs on the expression of T cells
Figure 11 Effect of C. glabrata $m{eta}$ -glucans stimulated BMDCs on the cytokine production of T cells
Figure 12 Comparison between the secretion of pro- and anti-inflammatory
cytokines from T cells in response to Candida $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans40
Figure 13 The development of anti-dsDNA antibodies in Fcgr2b ^{-/-} lupus-prone mice after C. glabrata β -glucans immunization41
Figure 14 Effect of C. glabrata β -glucans on cell proliferation in splenocytes and lymph node cells of Fcgr2b ^{-/-} lupus-prone mice

Figure 15 Dot plot analysis of CD3, CD4, FoxP3, IL-10 and IL-4 expressions in
response to C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucans immunization
Figure 16 Effect of C. glabrata eta -glucans on the expression of CD4 ⁺ FoxP3 ⁺ , CD4 ⁺ IL-
10 ⁺ and IL-4 ⁺ from splenocytes and lymph node cells in Fcgr2b ^{-/-} lupus-prone mice.

Figure 17 Effect of C. glabrata β -glucans on the cytokine production of T cells from splenocytes and lymph node cells of Fcgr2b^{-/-} lupus-prone mice......47



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

 β -glucans are in the form of complex polysaccharides that are covalently linked to other polysaccharides, proteins, and a side-chain-branched (1,3;1,6)- β -glucan [1]. Different sizes and branching patterns of β -glucans lead to various immune responses. Understanding the mechanism behind the induction of β -glucans in immunomodulation is helpful for clinical treatment. Several studies revealed that β glucans directly restored immune suppression associated with tumor-educated dendritic cells that promoted helper and cytotoxic T lymphocyte priming and improved antitumor responses [2]. Anti-tumor monoclonal antibodies combined with soluble yeast glucans were used as an adjuvant to recruit granulocytes (tumor killer cells) triggered by CR3 recognition of tumor cell-bound cells [3]. Hence, β -glucans have essential biological functions that are useful for the development of clinical applications.

 β -glucans can be isolated from various sources (cereals, mushrooms, lichens, algae, and microorganisms) with different characteristics such as glycosidic links, degree of branching, molecular weight, and solubility [4]. In this study, we focus on β -glucans in the *Candida* cell wall. Mannans, chitins, and β -glucans are the major components of fungal cell walls [5]. β -glucans of *Candida* species have been identified as an immunomodulator of anti-*Candida* immunity and have mainly induced the expression

of immunostimulatory molecules and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [6, 7]. The interaction of *Candida* β -glucans acts between innate and adaptive immune responses. Innate immune activation is triggered by *Candida* β -glucans through macrophages, dendritic cells, and neutrophils, as well as epithelial cells [8]. β -glucans mainly induce inflammatory responses through recognition of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as C-type lectin receptors and Toll-like receptors (TLRs) to initiate adaptive immunity [9, 10]. Adaptive immune responses are orchestrated and rely on antigen-presenting cells (APC), such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and B cells. Naïve T lymphocytes recognize antigens via major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I or MHC class II molecules on APCs, especially dendritic cells [11]. Dendritic cells play a crucial role in the presentation of antigens that help drive naïve T cells to specific effector T cells. Furthermore, yeast β -glucans can induce autophagy as a crucial mechanism for DC maturation and influence T cell differentiation [12].

The members of the *Candida* species reveal the most prevalent opportunistic fungal pathogens. *Candida glabrata* is a member of the non-*Candida Albicans Candida* (NCAC) species which is defined as the human pathogen [13]. *C. glabrata* in systemically infected immunocompetent mice was promoted to rapid induction of immunoreactive proteins for pro-inflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a), interleukin-12 (IL-12), and gamma interferon (IFN- γ) and lack of induction of anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10). Unlike *C. albicans*-infected mice, IL-10 was rapidly induced but delayed (i.e., TNF-a) or absent (i.e., IL-12 and IFN- γ) induction of immunoreactive pro-inflammatory cytokines [14]. Whereas our preliminary result shows that *C. glabrata* β -glucan isolates strongly induced IL-10 production from bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDC) *in vitro.* Subsequently, *C. glabrata* β -glucan was administered to mice, resulting in enhanced IL-10 production under PPAR γ expression, promoting attenuation of colitis and elimination of *C. glabrata* [15].

Dendritic cells (DC) serve as unique sentinels of the immune system, which are the most potent antigen-presenting cells, driving both T-cell immunity and tolerance [16]. Apart from antigen presentation, dendritic cell-based immunotherapy is the clinical application that uses the beneficial impacts of both types of DC (immunogenic and tolerogenic DCs) [17]. Immunogenic DCs are used by cancer patients to initiate antitumor immune responses [18]. Tolerogenic DCs (tolDCs) have potently maintained tolerance to self-antigen. These DCs play an important role in inducing peripheral tolerance through specific mechanisms such as regulatory T cell expansion, suppression of effector T cells, and secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines (e.g., IL-10, TGF- β) [19]. Standard immunosuppressive therapies often do not specify the target of the disease and are accompanied by severe side effects. In contrast, toIDCs have an attractive therapeutic approach to induce, enhance, or restore tolerance to specific antigens [20]. For example, estriol-generated toLDCs improved inhibitory costimulatory markers (PD-L1, PD-L2, B7-H3, and B7-H4) and immunoregulatory expression of IL-10 and TGF-b

mRNA to protect against inflammatory autoimmune diseases [21]. DC treated with dexamethasone generated from allergic patients to natural rubber latex (NRL) plays an important role in modulation of allergen-specific T cell responses and IgE production to support their potential use in allergen-specific immunotherapy [22].

Here, we investigated the effect of DC and T cell responses through induction of *C. glabrata* β -glucans. Dendritic cells were derived from bone marrow cells of mice and stimulated with microparticulate β -glucans *in vitro*. We used the *ex vivo* coculture system for the observation of T cell responses. Preliminary results show that *C. glabrata* β -glucans primed-DCs lead to immunosuppressive responses by IL-10 secretion. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine and powerfully influences immunosuppression. The immunosuppression state in DC contributes to the generation of immune nonresponsiveness or tolerance to antigens. These data have the potential to manage immune-mediated diseases, especially allergies, transplantations, autoimmunity, or chronic inflammatory diseases. Our research provides a benefit for the development of immunotherapy in immune-mediated diseases.

CHAPTER II

HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE

Research questions

1. How do dendritic cells respond to *C. glabrata* β -glucans *in vitro*?

2. How do T cells respond to C. glabrata β -glucans-stimulated dendritic cells

in vitro?

3. Can *C. glabrata* β -glucans ameliorate lupus disease *in Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone

mice?

Hypothesis

C. glabrata β -glucans can promote immunosuppressive effect in dendritic

cells and ameliorate lupus disease in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice.

Research objectives

1. To determine dendritic cell response to C. glabrata β -glucans.

2. To determine T cell response to dendritic cells after C. glabrata β -glucans

stimulation.

3. To determine the amelioration of lupus disease in response to C. glabrata

 β -glucans *in Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice.

CHAPTER III

LITERATURE REVIEW

β-glucans

 β -glucans are natural polysaccharides with other polysaccharides, proteins, and side chains. Its form mostly occurs in the cell wall of some plants, fungi, bacteria, mushrooms, yeast, and seaweeds [23]. β -glucans are well known for their property in stimulating the host immune system and increasing the resistance to various viral, bacterial, protozoan, and fungal diseases [24]. For clinical application, β -glucans have been considered an immunomodulator that improves antimicrobial and anticancer activities [25]. Yeast-derived β -Glucan in cancer therapy has been involved in trained immunity, where innate cells take on memory phenotypes. Additionally, it has the ability to regulate the tumor microenvironment (TME) by bridging the innate and adaptive immune responses and by modulating the phenotype of immune-suppressive cells to be immune-stimulatory [26]. In contrast, β -Glucans partially represented biological activity with anti-inflammatory effects. Yeast eta-Glucan could decrease proinflammatory modulators of TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , CCL2, and SAA3 and increase the antiinflammatory factors of Azgp1 at protein and/or mRNA levels in a model of diabetic mice [27]. Candida albican β -Glucan strongly induced the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1Ra which specifically induced an Akt/PI3 K-dependent anti-inflammatory IL-1Ra response [28]. Both cultured macrophages alone and cocultured macrophages and lymphocytes in vitro exposure to $1,3-\beta$ -glucan promote the secretion of antiinflammatory cytokines, resulting in a decrease in the expression of T helper 1 cytokines and an increase in T helper 2 [29]. Furthermore, dietary oat β -glucan is a good prognostic for use in Crohn's disease dietotherapy by reducing the gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and their protein concentration in an animal model [30].

Sources of β -glucans

Up to now, β -glucans are divided into five groups as shown in Figure 1 [4]. Depending on advances in research, β -glucans have been isolated from cereal sources and have a specific combination of β -(1 \rightarrow 4) and β -(1 \rightarrow 3) linkages into linear long-chain polysaccharides of high-molecular-weight linear long chain polysaccharides [31]. Another β -glucans have been isolated from sources of microorganisms, as well as from some mushrooms, lichens, and seaweed/algae [4]. In our proposed study, we isolated β -glucans from *Candida* species. *Candida* β -glucans have been isolated from their cell wall [32]. β -glucan extracted from the different sources leads to various characteristics such as glycosidic linkages, degree of branching, molecular weight, and solubility [4].



Figure 1 Sources of β -glucans.

Candida β -glucans

Candida species reveal the most prevalent opportunistic fungal pathogens. In healthy humans, Candida species are commensal fungi in nature and commonly colonize mucous membranes and the skin [33]. The Candida cell wall consists of proteins, lipids, β -glucans, mannans, and chitins. The outer layer of the cell wall is made up of mannans and the inner layers are mainly composed of β -glucan and chitin skeleton [34]. Mannans and β -glucans have significant biological activities in stimulating the host immune system [35]. Immune responses to Candida species orchestrated both innate and adaptive immunity. β -glucans are the main component identified as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) [36, 37]. C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) such as dectin-1, dectin-2 and dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN), mannose receptor (MR), Mincle, Galectin-3, toll-like receptors (TLRs) (such as TLR2 and TLR4) and complement receptor 3 (CR3) have all been associated with the recognition of fungal cell wall components as shown in Figure 2 [36, 38]. The most well-known β -glucan receptor is dectin-1. For example, *C. krusei* β -glucans partially induced host immune defenses via dectin-1 receptor and promoted the production of IL-10 by T cells [39]. Dectin-1 triggers cytokine production through Syk-dependent production of the T-helper 2 type anti-inflammatory cytokine (interleukin-10) and Toll-like receptor-Myd88-dependent stimulation of monocyte-derived proinflammatory cytokines (tumor necrosis factor) after *C. albicans* infection [6]. Dectin-1 modulated the limitation of systemic infections and the generation of differential adaptation of the *C. albicans* strain *in vivo* [40]. In addition, mice lacking the dectin-1 receptor are more susceptible to systemic infection by *C. glabrata* [41].



Figure 2 Recognition of Candida species by various PRRs on innate immune cells.

Defense against fungal infection is provided through the interplay between innate and adaptive immunity. Dendritic cells (DC) are critical for the initiation of adaptive T -cell mediated immune defense [42]. The recognition of *Candida* β -glucans by β -glucans receptors expressed on the surface of DC leads to T cell differentiation. Naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into effector T helper cells by the presentation of DC [11]. Intracellular bacterial infection mediates immune protective responses by inducing T helper 1, whereas T helper 2 cells are stimulated by helminth infection [43]. T helper 17 cells are markedly characterized for the protective immune responses of fungal invasion with a minor fraction belonging to the Th1 or Th2 subsets [44, 45]. Th17 expresses chemokine receptors (CCR4 and CCR6) [46] and mediates cytokine production (IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22) to generate defenses against fungal infection [38].

C. glabrata and C. albicans β -glucans

β-glucans are in the inner layer of the *Candida* cell wall and consist of carbohydrate backbones with many different of side-chain-branched β-1,3 and 1,6-glucan as shown in Figure 3 [34]. *C. albicans* β-glucans are the major components, accounting for 50-60% by weight of the cell wall [47]. The cell wall composition of *C. glabrata* contains approximately 50% more protein and the relative level of total glucan is lower than the walls of *C. albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [48]. Furthermore, *C. glabrata* blastoconidia (1 to 4 μm) has been considered smaller than *C. albicans* blastoconidia (4 to 6 μm) [49]. *C. albicans* is a dimorphic yeast, and host invasion can occur through two mechanisms, including the induction of host

endocytosis and the formation of hyphae [50]. The individual characteristics of *C. albicans* led to a stronger inflammatory response than *C. glabrata* infection [51].



Figure 3 Structural organization and composition of *C. albicans* cell wall. *C. glabrata* is a non-dimorphic yeast and penetrates the host bloodstream by accidental breach of natural barriers [52]. *C. glabrata* is markedly recognized and ingested by macrophages more than *C. albicans* [53]. However, *C. glabrata* is a commensal microorganism like *C. albicans*, and thus there are similar common host defense mechanisms that effectively control *C. glabrata* [49].

Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are unique sentinel leukocytes that respond early to antigens or danger signals and initiate innate and adaptive immunity [16]. Their function has an efficient ability to activate naïve T lymphocytes by expression of activation markers and secretion of cytokines and chemokines. DCs generally express CD11c and MHC class II molecules, but once activated, they differentiate into mature DCs and their expression levels of surface MHC-peptide complexes and of co-stimulatory molecules obviously increase and potentially activate T cells [54]. There are four main subsets of DCs including conventional DCs (cDCs), monocyte-derived DCs (MoDCs), plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), and Langerhans cells (LCs) [42]. Based on their functional responses, DCs have been defined as 'gatekeepers of the immune system', acting to orchestrate the maintenance of immune homeostasis in both immune activation and immune tolerance [55, 56]. Immunogenic DCs play a critical role in activating innate immunity through pattern recognition receptors (such as Toll-like receptor, C-type lectin receptor) and contribute to the priming of T cell differentiation [55].

On the other hand, tolerogenic DCs have been driven and maintained immune suppression by inducing immune silence to encounter antigens. They participate in both central and peripheral tolerance [57]. Therefore, tolerogenic DCs have been defined as the target of immunosuppressants for the regulation of hypersensitivity immune responses. For instance, quercetin which is a potent immunosuppressive agent, strongly generated an inhibitory effect on LPS-induced DCs by decreasing the production of proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines and the expression levels of MHC class II and costimulatory molecules. These reactions can be used for the treatment of chronic inflammation, autoimmunity, and transplantation by abolishing DC function [58]. Probiotic bacteria and steroids can generate immunosuppressive effects in human intestinal DCs for the treatment of acute ulcerative colitis [59]. Strategies in the clinical treatment of autoimmune disease, hypersensitivity, chronic inflammatory diseases, and transplantation focus on the inhibition of immune response by enhancing immune tolerance.

Role of dendritic cells and T cells in response to C. glabrata β -glucans

In this study, we investigated DCs and T cell response to C. glabrata β -glucans. DC functions, as previously described, play an important role in the protective reaction and antigen presentation. The expression of DC activation markers and cytokine production are the main signals in response to antigens. Our preliminary results show that murine bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) can express the differential activation marker and secrete pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Interestingly, C. glabrata β -glucans-induced BMDCs can promote a high level of IL-10 as an antiinflammatory cytokine. Previous evidence supports the notion that IL-10 mediates immunosuppression. IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1 can generate a local immunosuppressive environment in HPV-associated cervical neoplasia [60]. Blocking IL-10 resulted in alleviation of MDSC-mediated immunosuppression and improved survival in *in vivo* tumor progression [61]. IL-10 production in our preliminary in vitro assay may support the generation of tolerogenic properties in DCs. Recently, induced tolerogenic DCs are one type of dendritic cells. Their maturation can promote T cell tolerance due to exogenous signals such as microbial components, pharmacological and dietary agents, or certain physiological agents, and also by other specific metabolites, cytokines, and growth factors [62]. C. glabrata β -glucans in our study are used as a stimulator to modulate immune responses in BMDC. Normally, understanding the immunosuppressive reaction in clinical management has traditionally been focused on lymphocytes. In this study, we designed the *in vitro* coculture assay of DCs and T cells for the observation of T cell responses. The tolerogenic characteristics of DC and/or T cells after induction of *C. glabrata* β -glucans are powerful tools to alleviate allergies, transplantation, autoimmunity, or chronic inflammatory diseases and develop new strategies for clinical therapy.

The differentiation of dendritic cell (DC) maturation can promote the development of T-cell polarization. DC-mediated T-cell polarization is determined by three signals. First, the T cell receptor (TCR) recognizes the pathogen-derived peptides which are presented by MHC class II molecules on the cell surface of DCs. Second, the binding of CD28 and CD80/CD86 which are expressed by DCs, is the co-stimulatory signal. Third, the polarizing signal mainly mediates through cytokines and chemokines [63, 64]. Naïve T lymphocytes differentiate into different types and functions of T helper cells as shown in Figure 4 [65]. Type 1 T helper cells (Th1) require interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and interleukin-12 (IL-12). Transcription factor T-bet has been defined as the master regulator in Th1 cell differentiation. IFN- γ mainly induces the expression of T-bet, whereas IL-12 mediates Th1 cell lineage differentiation [66]. Type 2 T helper cells (Th2) produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 which are significant for antibody-mediated immunity and defense against parasite infection [67]. Furthermore, Th2 cells are associated with

allergy and asthma [68]. Type 17 T helper cells (Th17) play an important role in controlling extracellular pathogen infection. Th17 cells play critical roles in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Th17 cells efficiently induce the lineage-specific transcription factor retinoic-acid-receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor γ t (ROR γ t) as well as IL-17A secretion [69]. The maintenance of immune homeostasis is associated with immunosuppressive function or immune tolerance and prevents autoimmunity. Regulatory T cells (Treg) are determined by stable expression of the lineage-specific transcription factor Foxp3 and high amounts of the interleukin (IL-2) receptor α -chain (CD25) [70]. Treg cells commonly secrete IL-10, TGF- β and IL-2 for the generation of human CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells [71].



Figure 4 Overview of T helper subsets.

Lupus disease and Fcgr2b knockout lupus-prone mice

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic inflammatory autoimmune disease and is associated with multisystemic inflammatory responses [72, 73]. Autoimmunity is involved in the loss of self-tolerance and is driven by the defective mechanism of elimination of immune complexes and apoptotic waste, leading to chronic inflammation [74, 75]. Conventional lupus characteristics include anti-dsDNA, creatinine, proteinuria, urine sediments, and complement levels [76]. In this study, we used the model of mice prone to Fc gamma receptor 2b knockout (Fcgr2b) to determine the improvement of lupus disease in response to C. glabrata β -glucans. The advantages of this model are convenience and suitable for screening the amelioration of lupus disease after immunization with C. glabrata β -glucans. Fcgr2b is the only inhibitory Fc receptor and is important in the balance between promoting and regulating immune responses. The main function of Fcgr2b is the inhibition of activating signal transduction during immune activation [77]. SLE is associated with the dysfunction of the Fcgr2b. Therefore, Fcgr2b^{-/-} lupus-prone mice are used as the representative lupus model. Fcgr2b-deficient mice from a C57Bl/6 background spontaneously develop autoantibodies and autoimmune glomerulonephritis which are defined as lupus-like disease, but do not occur from a BAlB/c background [78]. However, our study still needs to be performed in other models of autoimmunity disease to provide more advanced and insight information.

CHAPTER IV

METHODOLOGY

Conceptual framework



CHAHTER V

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Wild-type mice (6- to 8-week-old female C57BL/6 mice) were purchased from Siam Nomura International. Fcgr2b-deficient mice (*Fcgr2b^{-/-}*) on a C57BL/6 background were received from Assoc. Prof. Asada Leelahavanichkul and provided by Dr. Silvia Bolland (NIAID, NIH, Maryland, USA). The mice were housed at the Chulalongkorn University Laboratory Animal Centre. All animal procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institute Animal Care and Use Committee of Chulalongkorn University Laboratory Animal Centre (IACUC) (Animal Protocol 19-33-010).

Preparation of microparticulate β -glucans (mp- β G)

Candida glabrata (ATCC2001) and *C. albicans* (ATCC 24433) were grown in YPD medium at 30 ° C for 8 h with shaking at 180 rpm. All yeast cultures were diluted to OD_{600} of 0.1 and cultured at 30°C for 12-14 h with shaking at 150 rpm. Micro-particulate β -glucans (mp- β G) were extracted following the protocol provided by [39]. Briefly, mp- β G was extracted with 0.75N sodium hydroxide, 2N phosphoric acid, and 1% phosphoric acid in absolute ethanol. The sediment was harvested, and the pH was adjusted to 7.0. The sediment was then washed with sterile water for 15 minutes in boiling and repeated three times. The mp- β G pellets were collected, lyophilized, and stored at -20°C until use. All procedures were performed using endotoxin-free water and containers. For mp- β G preparation, *C. glabrata* mp- β G should be prepared at a

low concentration (approximately 5 mg/ml). 50 mg of lyophilized mp- β G were resuspended in 10 ml of endotoxin-free water by stirring at room temperature overnight. Next, the pellets were harvested by centrifugation, washed with endotoxin-free water three times, and adjusted pH to 7.0. The mp- β G was depyrogenated with 1-2 ml of 250 mM sodium hydroxide for 50 mg of particulate glucan and then dispersed with 250 mM phosphoric acid (final pH 6.5-7.2) for neutralization. The pellets were washed with endotoxin-free water five times and suspended in endotoxin-free water. The mp- β G suspension was autoclaved at 121°C, 15 psi for 20 min. After cooling down, the suspension was stored at 4 ° C until use and available for 3 months. The concentration (5 mg/ml of *C. glabrata* mp- β G and 10 mg/ml of *C. albicans* mp- β G) was calculated by weight/volume. *C. glabrata* mp- β G was used in all experiments. *C. albicans* mp- β G was used in the *in vitro* dendritic cell and T cell coculture assay.

Generation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs)

Bone marrow (BM) cells were collected from the femurs and tibias of six-weekold female mice. BM cells were flushed out using a 25-gauge needle (NIPPO), suspended in culture medium, and filtrated through a cell strainer. BM cells were washed with culture medium twice. BM cells (2×10^6 cells) were counted and cultured in a 24-well plate in 1 ml of RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, 2 mM Glutamax, 100 U / ml penicillin, and 100 mg/ml streptomycin. Bone marrow cells were derived using recombinant mouse FLT3L (Biolegend) and recombinant murine GM-CSF (Peprotech). BM cells were cultured with 200 ng/ml of rm FLT3L on day 0, 100 ng / ml of rm FLT3L on day 3, 100 ng / ml of rm FLT3L, and 20 ng / ml of rm GM-CSF on day 6, and 20 ng / ml of rm GM-CSF on day 8. Cells were incubated under a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO_2 at 37 ° C for 9 days. Half of the culture media was replaced every 3 days.

Stimulation of BMDCs with Candida glabrata β -glucans

BMDCs were stimulated with 12.5, 25, and 50 µg/ml of *C. glabrata* β -glucans. Unstimulated BMDCs were used for negative control. BMDCs were treated with 1 µM Dexamethasone on day 7 of cell culture and stimulated with 0.5 µg/ml LPS on day 9 as a positive control. There were seven experimental groups (N = 5). After 24 and 48 h of stimulation, cells were harvested for evaluation of the expression of DC maturation markers using flow cytometry analysis. Culture supernatant was collected for cytokine measurement using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

Flow cytometry analysis

Fluorescent-conjugated antibodies against markers were used as follows: CHULALONGKORN mouse CD11c (N418), mouse CD40 (3/23), mouse CD80 (16-10A1), mouse CD86 (CL-1), and mouse I-A/I-E (MHC class II) (M5/114.152) for DC maturation. Mouse CD3 (2C11), mouse CD4 (RM4-5), mouse CD25 (PC61), mouse IL-10 (JES5-16E3), mouse IFN-γ (XMG1.2), mouse IL-17A (eBio17B7), and mouse/human FoxP3 (FJK-16s) for T cell population assay. Before staining with specific antibodies, cells were incubated with Fc block (purified anti-mouse CD16/32) to reduce nonspecific binding. All antibodies were obtained from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA), except for the anti-FoxP3 antibody, which was obtained from eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA). Stained cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and suspended in FACs buffer (0.1% sodium azide and 1% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum in PBS buffer). Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry (CytoFLEX, Beckman Coulter, San Diego, CA, USA) and data was determined using Kaluza Flow Analysis Software (Beckman Coulter).

Cytokine measurement

The pro-inflammatory cytokine (tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-1 β , interferon (IFN)- γ , IL-6, IL-23, and IL-12) and anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10) were detected in the culture supernatant. Cytokine in the culture supernatant of BMDC and DC: T coculture assay were measured by sandwich ELISA following the manufacturer's instructions. All ELISA kits were purchased from Biolegend, except the IL-23 ELISA kit, which was obtained from eBioscience. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader (EPOCH2C, BioTek).

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

In vitro dendritic cell and T cell coculture assay

 β -glucans. Unstimulated BMDCs were used for negative control. There were three experimental groups (N = 3). After 24 h of stimulation, cells were washed twice with RPMI medium. CD3⁺ T cells in the spleen were isolated from wild-type mice and purified using the Pan T Cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec). Purified CD3⁺ T cells (1 × 10^{6} cells per well) were cocultured with stimulated BMDCs (1 × 10^{5} cells) at a DC: T cell ratio of 1:10 in the presence of 30 ng/ml of soluble anti-CD3 antibody (145-2C11,

For BMDC, cells were stimulated with 25 µg/ml of C. glabrata and C. albicans

Biolegend) in a 48-plate well plate following the protocol provided by [39]. After 48 h of culture, cells were evaluated for the expression of CD3, CD4, CD25, FoxP3, and IL-10 using flow cytometry analysis. Culture supernatant was collected for cytokine measurement using ELISA.

In vivo study in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice

For the lupus mice model, $Fcgr2b^{-/-}$ lupus-prone mice developed anti-dsDNA antibodies at approximately six months of age and were used as the representative model of lupus disease. In this study, lupus characteristics were determined by serum anti-dsDNA. Serum anti-dsDNA was detected by the coated Calf-DNA (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Before immunization, anti-dsDNA antibodies were measured in the serum of Fcgr2b^{-/-} lupus-prone mice to represent the lupus characteristics. Fcgr2b^{-/-} lupus-prone female mice were divided into two groups (4 mice per group) including C. glabrata β -glucan immunization and PBS control. Apoptotic bodies were isolated from $Fcgr2b^{-/-}$ lupus-prone female mice and used as the autoantigen in this model. Apoptotic bodies were prepared and received from Dr Phuriwat Khiewkamrop. Fcgr2b⁻ $^{\prime ext{-}}$ lupus-prone female mice were immunized with C. glabrata $oldsymbol{eta}$ -glucan and apoptotic bodies following the timetable as shown in Table 1. On day 0, 50 µg of apoptotic bodies were subcutaneously injected with 2 mg of C. glabrata β -glucan or PBS in 200 μ l at the neck of mice. The mice were then injected with 25 μ g of apoptotic bodies and 2 mg of *C. glabrata* β -glucan or PBS on days 7, 21, and 42. At sacrifice, lymph nodes, spleen, kidney, urine, and blood were harvested after 2 weeks of the last injection. Lymph nodes and spleen were digested and cultured for an *ex vivo* restimulation assay. The kidneys were soaked in 10% neutral buffered formalin for histology. Blood was used for the detection of serum anti-dsDNA.

Table 1 The timeline of C. glabrata β -glucan and apoptotic bodies immunization.

Day of injection	Age of mice	Immunization
Day 0	5-month-old	50 ug apoptotic body + 2 mg C. glabrata eta -glucan or PBS
Day 7	5-month-old	25 ug apoptotic body + 2 mg C. glabrata eta -glucan or PBS
Day 21	5-month-old	25 ug apoptotic body + 2 mg C. glabrata eta -glucan or PBS
Day 24	5-month-old	Collecting blood
Day 42	6-month-old	25 ug apoptotic body + 2 mg C. glabrata eta -glucan or PBS
Day 45	6-month-old	Collecting blood
Day 54	6-month-old	At sacrifice, lymph nodes, spleen, and blood were
		collected.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University
Ex vivo re-stimulation assay

To investigate the immunologic responses of T cells, spleen and lymph nodes were collected from mice after 7 days of the last injection and digested. There were 2 experimental groups (4 mice per group, N = 4). The spleen was minced through a cell strainer. Cells were washed with culture medium twice by centrifuging at 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes. The cell suspension was lysed with 1 ml of RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend) for 1 minute. Then, 9 ml of culture medium was added to stop the reaction. Splenocytes were washed and suspended in culture medium. Lymph nodes were suspended in 5 ml of culture medium and digested using a sterile glass bead in a 50ml tube. 300 units/ml of Collagenase IV (Gibco) and 10 units/ml of DNase I (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were added to lymph nodes. lymph nodes were incubated at 37 ° C with shaking for 30-45 minutes. The cell suspension was filtrated through a 0.45 μ M membrane filter. Lymph node cells were washed and suspended in culture medium.

Splenocytes and lymph node cells (2 x 10⁶ cells per well) were counted and **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** cultured in a 48-well plate. Cells were re-stimulated with 20 µg/ml of apoptotic bodies. After 24 and 48 hours of stimulation, the culture supernatant was collected for cytokine measurement using ELISA. Cells were collected and divided into 2 sets for intracellular staining. Both sets were incubated with 50 ng/ml of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate, PMA (Sigma), and 1 µM of ionomycin (Sigma) for 1 hour. Then, cells were incubated with monensin (Biolegend) or Befeldin A (Sigma) for 3 hours later. After 4 hours of blocking cell transporter processes, cells were stained and evaluated for the expression of CD3, CD4, CD25, FoxP3, IL-10, IFN- γ , and IL-17A using flow cytometry analysis.

Assessment of cell proliferation

Spleen and lymph nodes were collected from mice after 7 days of the last injection and digested. Splenocytes and lymph node cells (2×10^5 cells per well in 200 µl) were cultured in a 96-well plate. Cells were re-stimulated with 20 µg/ml of apoptotic bodies for 72 hours. Cell proliferation was detected using CellTiter 96® AQueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay, MTS (Promega), and following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were incubated with 20 µl of CellTiter 96® AQueous One Solution Reagent (Promega) and incubated at 37° C for 4 hours. The absorbance was measured at 490 nm using a microplate reader (EPOCH2C, BioTek). The percentage of cell proliferation was calculated by normalization with the negative control.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Statistical analysis

All data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation and analyzed using Oneway ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc test in SPSS28 software (IBM, New York, NY, USA). Values of p < 0.05 were determined to be statistically significant.

CHAPTER VI

RESULT

Effect of *C. glabrata* β -glucans on dendritic cell viability and CD11c expression.

To evaluate the proportions of DC maturation, the BMDCs were stimulated with 12.5, 25, and 50 μ g/ml of *C. glabrata* β -glucans. Cells were characterized using flow cytometry. Live BMDCs gate was placed based on side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC) as shown in the A1 gate (Figure 5A). Our results reveal that the percentage of live BMDCs did not alter in *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs when compared to unstimulated BMDCs. Whereas 25 and 50 μ g/ml of *C. glabrata* β -glucans-stimulated BMDCs at only 24 h after stimulation slightly reduce the percentage of live BMDCs. Moreover, the percentage of live BMDCs in C. glabrata β -glucans-stimulated BMDCs significantly decreased at 24 and 48 h when compared to 1 µM dexamethasone and LPS-stimulated-BMDCs (Figure 5B). BMDCs were derived with FLT3L and GM-CSF in the DC culture system. GM-CSF derived-BMDCs present a heterogeneous group of cells that comprises conventional DCs and monocyte-derived macrophages. The expressions of maturation genes in GM-DCs were great after LPS induction, while GM-Macs represented the great expression of interferon-stimulated genes. Flt3L is a cytokine and growth factor for the differentiation of dendritic cells. Flt3L-dependent differentiation of common DC precursors and pre-DCs was safe and used for the DC culture method [79]. Subsequently, the electronic gate of the DC population was identified by gating the $CD11c^+$ marker (A2 gate) as shown in Figure 5A. All doses of C.

glabrata β -glucans significantly reduced both the percentage and the geometric mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of CD11c at 48 h when compared to unstimulated BMDCs but did not occur at 24 h (Figures 5C and 5D). BMDCs after dexamethasone treatment were used for positive control in this experiment. CD11c expression was markedly reduced after LPS stimulation in dexamethasone treated-BMDCs when compared to unstimulated BMDCs. Accordingly, dexamethasone has been defined as an antiinflammatory drug and is used for the tolerance study model [80, 81]. Our results show that CD11c expression of BMDCs after 1 µM dexamethasone treatment significantly decreased when compared to LPS stimulated-BMDCs. Furthermore, CD11c expressions in *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs were significantly enhanced when compared to 1 µM dexamethasone and LPS stimulated-BMDCs (Figures 5C and 5D).





Figure 5 Evaluation of CD11c⁺ cell proportion, CD11c expression, and live BMDC in response to *C. glabrata* β -glucans.

(A) Dot plot analysis of live BMDCs was shown using side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC). The A1 gate was placed to select the live BMDCs. The CD11c⁺ cells were evaluated in the A1 gate and gated based on the dot plot analysis of CD11c

and FSC as shown in the A2 gate. (B) The live BMDC gate, (C) CD11c⁺ cell proportion and (D) CD11c expression were analyzed and gated in the A1 gate. * p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated BMDCs, ^ap < 0.05 when compared with LPS stimulated-BMDCs, ^dp < 0.05 when compared with 1 µM dexamethasone and LPS stimulated-BMDCs: N= 5.

Effect of *C. glabrata* β -glucans on dendritic cell maturation.

C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs significantly increased the expression of CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHCII when compared to unstimulated BMDC at both time points. Although dexamethasone-only and dexamethasone-LPS-treated BMDCs still negatively regulated the maturation markers. The electronic gate of the DC population was identified by placing the live cell gate (A1 gate) as shown in Figure 5A. The CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHCII expression of BMDCs after 1 µM dexamethasone treatment significantly decreased when compared to LPS stimulated-BMDCs. The percentages of each DC subpopulation were consistent with their geometric MFI levels (Figures 6 and 7). The percentage and geometric MFI of all markers in *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs were significantly increased compared to 1 µM dexamethasone and

LPS stimulated-BMDCs (Figures 6 and 7).





The cell proportions of CD80⁺, CD86⁺, CD40⁺, and MHCII⁺ were analyzed and gated in a live BMDC gate (A1 gate). * p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated BMDCs, ^a p





Figure 7 The geometric mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of differential phenotypic BMDC maturation after stimulation with *C. glabrata* β -glucans.

The expressions of CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHCII were analyzed and gated in a live BMDC gate (A1 gate). * p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated BMDCs, ^ap < 0.05 when compared with LPS stimulated-BMDCs, ^dp < 0.05 when compared with 1 μ M dexamethasone and LPS stimulated-BMDCs: N= 5.

BMDC stimulated with *C. glabrata* β -glucans had a differential impact on the production of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

The levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-1 β , IFN- γ , IL-6, IL-23, IL-12) and an anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10) in the culture supernatant were quantitated by ELISA. Pro-inflammatory cytokine levels after three doses of *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulation at both time points were significantly enhanced compared to unstimulated BMDC, but lower than after LPS stimulation (Figure 8). The levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in dexamethasone treated-BMDCs significantly decreased when compared to LPS stimulated-BMDCs. Surprisingly, all doses of C. glabrata β -glucan augmented the massive production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 (Figure 8G). C. glabrata β glucans stimulation significantly enhanced the production of pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines when compared to 1 µM dexamethasone and LPS stimulated-BMDCs but did not alter the IL-12 production. Next, we observed the alteration of T cells in response to BMDCs after C. glabrata β -glucan induction. We expected that C. glabrata β -glucans-stimulated BMDCs may impact T polarization by enhancing IL-10 production.





Figure 8 Measurement of cytokines in C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs.

The levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IFN- γ , IL-6, IL-23, IL-12) and an anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10) in the culture supernatant were quantitated by ELISA. * p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated BMDCs, ^ap < 0.05 when compared with LPS stimulated-BMDCs, ^dp < 0.05 when compared with 1 μ M dexamethasone and LPS stimulated-BMDCs: N= 5.

Expression of T cells in response to C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs.

Having demonstrated the effect of BMDC maturation and cytokine production in response to *C. glabrata* β -glucans (Figures 5 to 8), we subsequently observed the orchestration of T cell responses by C. glabrata β -glucans induction. For this experiment, we performed an in vitro DC-T coculture experiment in the presence of a low concentration (30 ng/ml) of a soluble anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody. The binding of soluble CD3 and T cells leads to signal transduction into T cells [82]. The BMDCs were stimulated with 25 μ g/ml of *C. glabrata* and *C. albicans* β -glucans for 24 h and then co-cultured in vitro with T cells in the presence of anti-CD3 antibody. DCs alone and T cells alone were also incubated with the soluble anti-CD3 antibody, which was used for the negative control. Live cells were gated based on side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC) as shown in the A1 gate (Figure 9A). The percentage of live cells did not alter in T cell responses after coculture with Candida β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs when compared to the negative control (Figure 10A). The percentage of CD3⁺CD4⁺ cells was evaluated in the A1 gate and gated based on the dot plot analysis of CD3 and CD4 as shown in the CD3⁺CD4⁺ gate (Figure 9A). The expressions of CD3 and CD4 were defined as T helper cells [83]. The percentage of CD25, FoxP3, IL-10, IFN- γ and IL-17A were gated based on the dot plot analysis in the A1 gate (Figure 9B). The expression of CD4⁺CD25⁺ as an IL-2 receptor and T lymphocyte activation marker significantly increased in T cells after coculture with C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs when compared to unstimulated BMDCs and C. albicans β -glucans stimulatedBMDCs (Figure 10B). Whereas *C. albicans* and *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs did not impact the expression of CD4⁺FoxP3⁺, CD4⁺IL-10⁺, CD4⁺IFN- γ ⁺ and CD4⁺IL-17A⁺ in T cells (Figure 10C, 10D, 10E and 10F).



Figure 9 Dot plot analysis of the expressions of T cell markers in response to C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs.

(A) The live cell gate was shown using side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC). The A1 gate was placed to select the live cells. The CD3⁺CD4⁺cells were evaluated in the A1 gate and gated based on the dot plot analysis of CD3 and CD4 as shown in the

DC:T DC:T CD4+CD25+ Live cells А В T only T only 100.00 100.00 a 80.00 80.00 Cells (%) (%) 60.00 60.00 Cells 40.00 40.00 20.00 20.00 0.00 0.00 (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (+) CD3 (-) CD3 (+) CD3 (-) CD3 DC:T CD4*IL-10* CD4⁺FoxP3⁺ DC:T С D only T only 15.00 40.00 30.00 10.00 Cells (%) Cells (%) 20.00 5.00 10.00 0.00 0.00 (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (-) CD3 (+) CD3 (+) CD3 (-) CD3 F Е DC:T DC:T $CD4^{+}IFN-\gamma^{+}$ CD4⁺IL-17A⁺ T only T only 4.000 0.300 0.200 Cells (%) Cells (%) 2.000 0.100 0.000 0.000 CA CA CG (-) (-) CG (-) CA CG (-) CA CG (-) CD3 (+) CD3 (+) CD3 (-) CD3 Figure 10 Effect of C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated BMDCs on the expression of T เสงกรณมห

CD3⁺CD4⁺ gate. (B) The percentage of CD25, FoxP3, IL-10, IFN- γ and IL-17A were analyzed and gated in the A1 gate.

cells. CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

The percentages of T-cell markers were analyzed from dot plot analysis as shown in Figure 8. * p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated-BMDCs, ^a p < 0.05 when compared with *C. albicans* β -glucans: N= 3.

BMDC stimulated with *C. glabrata* β -glucans had a differential impact on the cytokine production in T cells.

We subsequently observed the cytokine production of T cell response to C. glabrata β -glucans-stimulated BMDCs. T cells significantly augmented IL-2 production after C. glabrata and C. albicans β -glucans -stimulated BMDCs induction. Moreover, IL-2 production in DC: T coculture of C. glabrata β -glucans was markedly enhanced when compared to *C. albicans* β -glucans -stimulated BMDCs induction (Figure 11A). IL-2 was discovered as a T cell growth factor and essential for the proliferation of T cells and the generation of effector and memory cells [84]. In our results, we found that IL-10 and IFN- γ were predominantly secreted from T cells after 48 h of coculture with BMDC pulsed with C. glabrata β -glucans (Figures 11B and 11C). The level of IL-10 in the DC: T coculture of C. glabrata β -glucan induction was approximately 1.75-fold higher than its non-induction (Figure 11B). Also, the level of IFN- γ in the DC: T coculture of C. glabrata β -glucan induction was approximately 1.1-fold higher than its noninduction (Figure 10C). Whereas IL-17A production in T cells did not alter after C. glabrata and C. albicans β -glucans-stimulated BMDCs induction when compared to the negative control (Figure 11D).

T helper 1 mainly produces IFN- γ , whereas T helper 17 mainly produces IL-17A. T-cell activation plays an important role in adaptive immune responses. IL-10 is secreted from regulatory T cells and promotes the function of anti-inflammation [83, 85]. We found that *C. glabrata* β -glucans-induced BMDCs can promote the high secretion of IFN- γ and IL-10. The levels of IFN- γ and IL-10 were approximately 1.4and 1.8-fold higher than T cells cocultured with *C. albicans* β -glucans stimulated BMDCs, respectively (Figure 12).



Figure 11 Effect of *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulated BMDCs on the cytokine production of T cells.

The levels of IL-2, IL-10 IFN- γ , and IL-17A in the culture supernatant were quantitated by ELISA. * p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated BMDCs, ⁺p < 0.05 when compared with *C. albicans* β -glucans: N= 3.





* p < 0.05 when compared with unstimulated BMDCs (white bar), ^a p < 0.05 when compared with T cells cocultured with *C. albicans* β -glucans stimulated BMDCs (black bar): N= 3.

Effect of *C. glabrata* β -glucans on the development of anti-dsDNA antibodies in *Fcgr2b*^{-/-} lupus-prone mice. **ONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

Fcgr2b^{-/-} lupus-prone mice at six months of age were used as the representative model of lupus disease. In this study, we measured the level of serum anti-dsDNA antibodies for screening the lupus characteristic. Having investigated the induction of *C. glabrata* β -glucans on massive IL-10 secretion in dendritic cells *in vitro*, they may generate an immunosuppressive state in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice leading to ameliorate lupus disease. There are two experimental groups (*C. glabrata* β -glucan

immunization and PBS control). Mice were administrated with *C. glabrata* β -glucans as adjuvant and apoptotic bodies as the autoantigens. PBS and autoantigens were injected into mice and used for the negative control. Our result demonstrated that anti-dsDNA antibodies at days 45 and 54 after *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization predominantly decreased in lupus-prone mice when compared with PBS control (Figure 13).



after C. glabrata eta-glucans immunization.

* p < 0.05 when compared with PBS control: N= 4.

Effect of *C. glabrata* β -glucans on cell proliferation in splenocytes and lymph node cells of *Fcgr2b*^{-/-} lupus-prone mice.

We used the *ex vivo* re-stimulation assay for determining the cell proliferation of splenocytes and lymph node cells. The percentage of cell proliferation was calculated and analyzed using the colorimetric method (CellTiter 96® AQueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay, MTS). We found that the percentage of cell proliferation in lymph node cells did not alter after being re-stimulated with autoantigens, whereas the percentage of cell proliferation in splenocytes significantly increased after *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice (Figure 14).





Expression of T cells from splenocytes and lymph node cells in $Fcgr2b^{-/-}$ lupusprone mice in response to *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization.

Our investigation of dendritic cell responses to C. glabrata β -glucans demonstrated that C. glabrata β -glucans may impact the immunosuppressive state in dendritic cells via IL-10 secretion. In this experiment, we performed an in vivo experiment in *Fcgr2b* knockout lupus-prone mice to determine the improvement of lupus disease in response to C. glabrata β -glucans. Spleen and lymph nodes were collected from immunized mice. We used the re-stimulation assay for the evaluation of T-cell responses. Splenocytes and lymph node cells were analyzed using flow cytometric analysis. Live cells were gated based on side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC) as shown in the A1 gate (Figure 15A). The percentage of CD3⁺CD4⁺ cells was evaluated in the A1 gate and gated based on the dot plot analysis of CD3 and CD4 as shown in the CD3⁺CD4⁺ gate (Figure 15A). The percentage of FoxP3, IL-10, and IL-4 were gated based on the dot plot analysis in the A1 gate (Figure 15B). Our results reveal that C. glabrata β -glucans immunization in Fcgr2b knockout lupus-prone mice did not alter the expression of FoxP3, IL-10 and IL-4 in both splenocytes and lymph node cells when compared to PBS control (Figures 16).



Figure 15 Dot plot analysis of CD3, CD4, FoxP3, IL-10 and IL-4 expressions in response to C. glabrata β -glucans immunization.

(A) The live cell gate was shown using side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC). The A1 gate was placed to select the live cells. The CD3⁺CD4⁺cells were evaluated in the A1 gate and gated based on the dot plot analysis of CD3 and CD4 as shown in the CD3⁺CD4⁺ gate. (B) The CD4⁺FoxP3⁺, CD4⁺IL-10, and IL-4⁺ expressions were analyzed and gated in the A1 gate.



Figure 16 Effect of *C. glabrata* β -glucans on the expression of CD4⁺FoxP3⁺, CD4⁺IL-10⁺ and IL-4⁺ from splenocytes and lymph node cells in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice.

The percentages of T-cell markers were analyzed from dot plot analysis as shown in figure 15. * p < 0.05 when compared with PBS control: N= 4.

Cytokine production in T cells from splenocytes of $Fcgr2b^{-/-}$ lupus-prone mice.

C. glabrata β -glucans immunization in the lupus mice model had a differential impact on cytokine secretion. We used the re-stimulation assay for the evaluation of T-cell responses. Splenocytes and lymph node cells were re-stimulated with apoptotic bodies and cultured for 24 and 48 h. IFN- γ , IL-4 and IL-17A were mainly secreted from T helper 1, T helper 2, and T helper 17, respectively. Regulatory T cells can promote IL-10 production [83, 85]. We found that IFN- γ production in splenocytes significantly increased in the culture supernatant of C. glabrata β -glucans immunization at 24 and 48h. The levels of IFN- γ at 24 and 48h were approximately 18.92- and 27.40-fold higher than PBS control, respectively. Whereas IL-10, IL-17A and IL-4 production did not alter in splenocytes of *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization (Figure 17A). In lymph node cells of C. glabrata β -glucans immunization, IL-17A production significantly increased at both time points but did not occur the alteration of IL-10, IFN- γ , and IL-4 production. The levels of IL-17A at 24 and 48h were approximately 10.12- and 7.42-fold higher than PBS control, respectively. In comparison between immune activation and suppression, we found that the level of IL-17A at 24 h in lymph node cells was approximately 5.04-fold higher than the IL-10 level but did not occur in splenocytes (Figure 17B).





splenocytes and lymph node cells of *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice.

The levels of IL-10, IFN- γ , IL-17A and IL-4 in the culture supernatant were quantitated

by ELISA. * p < 0.05 when compared with PBS control: N= 4.

CHAPTER VII

DISCUSSION

C. glabrata $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ -glucans had a differential impact on the dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production.

eta-glucans have essential biological functions that are represented as a stimulator in the mechanism of immune responses. Our results reveal that C. glabrata β -glucans had a differential impact on the phenotype of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDC) as shown in figures 4-6. We used dexamethasone treatment for the tolerance study model [80, 81]. Our results show that CD11c expression was markedly reduced in BMDC treated with dexamethasone alone and dexamethasone-LPS (Figure 5). In addition, dexamethasone resulted in the inhibition of DC differentiation and no change in the DC viability [86]. The immature DCs used for tolerance induction maintain a steady immature state with predominant production of interleukin (IL) -10 [87]. In our investigation, the expressions of CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHCII were identified by gating live BMDCs in both dot plots and histogram analysis. We found that C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs significantly increased the expression of CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHCII compared to unstimulated BMDC. Although dexamethasone-only and dexamethasone-LPS-treated BMDCs still negatively regulated the maturation markers. The percentage and geometric MFI of all markers in C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs were slightly reduced compared to LPS stimulated-BMDCs (Figures 6 and 7). Parallel to defective antigen-specific T-cell

stimulation, the expression of MHCII and co-stimulatory molecules (CD80 and CD86) in DCs after treatment with nanoparticles containing OVA and dexamethasone [88]. Our finding implies that *C. glabrata* β -glucans may affect DC function.

Both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in dendritic cells had a differential response to C. glabrata β -glucans, especially IL-10 production (Figure 8). Previously, dendritic cells matured through the CD40-CD40L interaction leading to high amounts of IL-10 production [89]. IL-10 production by pulmonary dendritic cells mediated tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to the antigen [90]. The effect of massive IL-10 secretion by dendritic cells may drive the differentiation of naïve T cells into effector regulatory T cells. Dendritic cells producing IL-10 and IL-27 can enhance IL-10 production of T cells, leading to the generation of oral tolerance [91]. Resident CD141 (BDCA3)⁺ dendritic cells in human skin are capable of IL-10 production to induce regulatory T cells that suppress skin inflammation [92]. Selective probiotic bacteria prime dendritic cells to drive the development of regulatory T cells, producing increased levels of IL-10 [93]. Therefore, enhanced IL-10 production in C. glabrata β glucan-induced BMDCs may impact T polarization, especially regulatory T cells. Consequently, we observed the alteration of T cells in response to BMDCs after C. glabrata β -glucan induction.

C. glabrata $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ -glucans-stimulated BMDCs had a differential impact on the cytokine production in T cells.

We used the in vitro DC-T coculture experiment to investigate T-cell alteration in response to *C. glabrata* β -glucan-pulsed BMDCs. *C. albicans* β -glucans were used as a positive stimulator. C. albicans β -glucans have been represented as a stimulator for host immune responses [94]. In this experiment, C. albicans β -glucan-induced BMDCs did not influence T-cell responses (Figures 10 and 11). Our results reveal that C. glabrata β -glucan-pulsed BMDCs did not alter the expression of CD4⁺FoxP3⁺, CD4⁺IL-10⁺, CD4⁺ IFN- γ ^{+,} and CD4⁺IL-17A⁺ in T cells (Figure 10). Whereas both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokine was predominantly secreted from T cells after 48 h of coculture with BMDC pulsed with C. glabrata eta-glucans (Figure 11). In comparison between immune activation and suppression, we found that the level of IFN- γ secretion significantly augmented when compared to IL-10 secretion in T cells after coculture with C. glabrata β -glucans stimulated-BMDCs (Figure 12). This result implies that IL-10 producing-BMDCs after C. glabrata β -glucans stimulation did not impact antiinflammatory responses in T cells and mainly promoted inflammatory responses. We found that the level of IL-10 in the coculture system was less when compared to the IL-10 level in BMDCs. Because the number of BMDCs in the coculture system (10^5 cells) was 10-fold lower than the BMDCs (10⁶ cells) in the DC culture system. Several shreds of evidence have shown that β -glucans from *C. glabrata* cell wall impact host immune responses through C-type lectin receptors [41, 95]. Survived mice after C. glabrata

infection was associated with rapid induction of mRNAs and corresponding immunoreactive proteins for the proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-12, and IFN- γ) and the lack of induction of protein for the anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10) [14]. Collectively, *C. glabrata* β -glucan acts as an inducer in the generation of an immunosuppressive state in dendritic cells through IL-10 secretion. These DCs could not modulate the differentiation and function of T cells in immunosuppressive responses. Next, we used the *in vivo* study for determining the alteration of lupus disease in response to C. *glabrata* β -glucans in the lupus mice model. We expected that IL-10-producing dendritic cells through *C. glabrata* β -glucan induction may generate an immunosuppressive state in the lupus mice model and improve lupus disease after *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization.

The alteration of lupus disease in response to *C. glabrata* β -glucans in *Fcgr2b*^{-/-} lupus-prone mice.

In our investigation in an *in vitro* experiment, we found that *C. glabrata* β glucans could trigger dendritic cells leading to the massive secretion of the antiinflammatory cytokine, IL-10. IL-10 has a significant role in generating the
immunosuppressive state [96]. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic
inflammatory autoimmune disease [72] and is associated with the dysfunction of
Fcgr2b as an inhibitory Fc receptor [97]. In this study, *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice were
used as the representative model of lupus disease. *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice
developed increased anti-dsDNA antibodies at six months of age, indicating lupus

disease [98]. The alteration of anti-dsDNA antibodies is detected for screening the lupus characteristic. We found that *C. glabrata* β -glucans immunization at days 45 and 54 significantly decreased the level of anti-dsDNA antibodies in *Fcgr2b^{-/-}* lupus-prone mice when compared with PBS control (Figure 13). This finding implies that the *C. glabrata* β -glucans may play a role in promising alleviation of lupus disease. To date, the management of SLE has moved from conventional treatments to biological treatments to decrease the risk of progressive irreversible damage accrual and increased mortality in patients with this chronic disease [99]. Immunomodulation and immunosuppressive state are being considered for SLE therapeutic approaches [100, 101]. In our results, the augmented IL-10 secretion from *C. glabrata* β -glucans stimulated-dendritic cells may be used and adapted for the biological therapies in SLE.

Splenocytes and lymph node cells were collected and re-stimulated with autoantigens in an *ex vivo* experiment. We found that the percentage of cell proliferation in lymph node cells did not alter but altered in splenocytes after restimulation, suggesting that *C. glabrata* β -glucans may generate immunosuppressive environments in lymph nodes (Figure 14). Otherwise, the expression of FoxP3, IL-10 and IL-4 did not alter in both splenocytes and lymph node cells after re-stimulation (Figure 16). Moreover, the level of IL-10 and IL-4 secretion did not alter in splenocytes and lymph node cells after re-stimulation (Figure 17). We found that augmented IL-17A production (5.04-fold) in lymph node cells was higher than IL-10 production suggesting that *C. glabrata* β -glucans may impact immune activation in lymph nodes. The previous discoveries that T cell activation and oligoclonal T cell responses occurred in the regional lymph nodes (LN) of nephritic mice during acute lupus glomerulonephritis (GN) [102]. Basophils and the T helper type 2 environment could promote the production of autoantibodies resulting in the development of lupus nephritis [103]. IL-10–producing CCR6⁺T cells were highly abundant in lymph nodes of SLE patients and could play a prominent pathogenic role in SLE [104]. Collectively, our findings implied that *C. glabrata* β -glucan immunization in lupus-prone mice probably mediated the alteration of immune responses in lymph nodes.

In conclusion, our investigation implies that β -glucan isolates in the cell wall of *C. glabrata* could promote the massive production of anti-inflammatory or immunosuppressive cytokine, interleukin-10 (IL-10), which might lead to generating the immunosuppressive state in dendritic cells. Moreover, we found that the capacity of *C. glabrata* β -glucan in an *in vivo* experiment promisingly controls the levels of autoantibodies in *Fcgr2b*^{-/-} lupus-prone mice which may be beneficial for the amelioration of lupus disease. However, this study still needs to provide more advanced information in *in vivo* experiments on the alteration of lupus characteristics and the characterization of dendritic cells and T cells after *C. glabrata* β -glucan immunization in *Fcgr2b*^{-/-} lupus-prone mice.

APPENDIX A

1.	24-wells plate (Cell Culture plate)	USA
2.	48-wells plate (Cell Culture plate)	USA
3.	96-wells plate (Cell Culture plate)	USA
4.	96 wells flat bottom plate	USA
5.	Biological Safety Cabinet (BSC) Class II	Singapore
6.	Centrifuge 4-16KS	Germany
7.	Centrifuge Allegra X-30R	USA
8.	CO ₂ Incubator for cell culture	USA
9.	Water bath	Germany
10.	Automated Cell Counter (Invitrogen)	USA
11.	Inverted microscope IX70	Japan
12.	Incubator shaker (Daihan) รณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	Korea
13.	Orbital shaker incubator	Latvia
14.	Pipette tip 10, 200, 1000 μL	USA
15.	Serological pipette 5, 10, 25 ml	USA
16.	Micropipette 2, 10, 200, 1000 μL	USA
17.	Serological pipette controller	USA
18.	1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube	USA
19.	15- and 50-ml conical tube	USA

20.	Microplate washer 405LS	USA
21.	Microplate reader Epoch2C	USA
22.	Flow cytometry (CytoFLEX)	USA
23.	Autoclave HVA-110	Japan
24.	Hot air oven (Memmert)	Germany



APPENDIX B

BIOLOGICAL/CHEMICAL AGENTS AND REAGENTS

1.	Absolute Ethanol Grade AR	New Zealand
2.	Sodium hydroxide (QREC)	New Zealand
3.	Phosphoric acid (QREC)	New Zealand
4.	Sodium azide (QREC)	New Zealand
5.	Sodium chloride (QREC)	New Zealand
6.	Di-Sodium hydrogen phosphate dihydrate (QREC)	New Zealand
7.	Potassium dihydrogen phosphate (QREC)	New Zealand
8.	Potassium Chloride (QREC)	New Zealand
9.	Sodium bicarbonate (QREC)	New Zealand
10	Sodium carbonate (QREC)	New Zealand
11	Tri-potassium Citrate Monohydrate (QREC)	New Zealand
12	Citric acid Monohydrate (QREC)	New Zealand
13	Sodium Hydroxide (QREC)	New Zealand
14	Endotoxin-free water	Thailand
15	RPMI 1640 Medium (Gibco)	USA
16	Fetal bovine serum (Gibco)	USA
17	Glutamax (Gibco)	USA
18	Penicillin-Streptomycin (Gibco)	USA
19	2-mercaptoethanol (Invitrogen)	USA

20. Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline, DPBS (Gibco)	USA
21. Recombinant mouse FLT3L (Biolegend)	USA
22. Recombinant murine GM-CSF (Peprotech)	USA
23. Bovine Serum Albumin, BSA (Capricorn)	Germany
24. Dexamethasone (Sigma)	USA
25. Lipopolysaccharides, LPS (Sigma)	USA
26. Collagenase IV (Invitrogen)	USA
27. DNase I (ThermoFisher)	USA
28. All antibodies for flow cytometry (Biolegend)	USA
29. anti-FoxP3 antibody (eBioscience)	USA
30. All antibodies for ELISA (Biolegend)	USA
31. IL-23 ELISA kit (eBioscience)	USA
32. DMSO (Sigma)	USA
33. 30% Hydrogen peroxide (QREC)	New Zealand
34. TMB (3,3,5,5-tetramethylbensidine)	USA
35. Paraformaldehyde	USA
36. Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate, PMA (Sigma)	USA
37. lonomycin (Sigma)	USA
38. Brefeldin A (Sigma)	USA
39. Monensin (Biolegend)	USA
40. Coated Calf-DNA (Invitrogen)	USA

41. Pan T Cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec)	USA
42. Cell Proliferation Assay Kit, MTS (Promega)	USA



APPENDIX C

REAGENTS PREPARATION

- 1. Complete RPMI1640 for BMDCs culture RPMI 1640 45 ml 200 mM Glutamax 50 µl 100% heat inactivated FBS 5 ml 100x Penicillin/Streptomycin 500 µl 2. Complete RPMI1640 for splenocytes and lymph node cells culture RPMI 1640 44 ml 200 mM Glutamax 500 µl 100% heat inactivated FBS 5 ml 100x Penicillin/Streptomycin 500 µl 1000x 2-mercaptoethanol 50 µl
 - **GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT**
- 3. 70% Ethanol

100% Ethanol	70 ml		
Sterile water	30 ml		
4.	1x Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline, DPBS		
----	---	---------	--
	Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline, DPBS	9.55 g	
	Endotoxin-free water	1000 ml	
5.	1x Phosphate-buffered saline		
	Sodium chloride, NaCl	8 g	
	Di-Sodium hydrogen phosphate dihydrate, Na $_2$ HPO $_4$	1.16 g	
	Potassium dihydrogen phosphate, KH ₂ PO ₄	0.2 g	
	Potassium Chloride, KCL	0.2 g	
	Distilled water	1000 ml	
6.	FACs buffer		
	1x Phosphate-buffered saline	495 ml	
	100% heat inactivated FBS	5 ml	
	Sodium azide (NaN ₃)	0.5 g	
7.	Coating buffer for ELISA		
	Sodium bicarbonate, NaHCO3	8.4 g	

Sodium carbonate, Na2CO33.56 gDistilled water1000 ml

8. 0.2M TMB buffer

Tri-potassium Citrate Monohydrate	33.25 g
Citric acid Monohydrate (MW=210.4 g/mol)	19.69 g
Distilled water	500 ml

9. TMB solution

0.2M TMB buffer	10 ml
DMSO	250 µl
30% Hydrogen peroxide	2.5 µl
TMB (3,3,5,5-tetramethylbensidine)	2.5 mg
10. 10N Sodium hydroxide	
Sodium hydroxide, NaOH	40 g
Distilled water CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	100 ml

11. 4% Paraformaldehyde

Paraformaldehyde	8 g
10N Sodium hydroxide	20 µl
1x Phosphate-buffered saline	200 ml

REFERENCES

- Harris, P.J. and B.A. Stone, Evolutionary aspects of (1, 3)-**6**-glucans and related polysaccharides, in Chemistry, Biochemistry, and Biology of 1-3 Beta Glucans and Related Polysaccharides. 2009, Elsevier. p. 655-662.
- Ning, Y., et al., *B*-glucan restores tumor-educated dendritic cell maturation to enhance antitumor immune responses. International Journal of Cancer, 2016. 138(11): p. 2713-2723.
- Hong, F., et al., *B*-Glucan functions as an adjuvant for monoclonal antibody immunotherapy by recruiting tumoricidal granulocytes as killer cells. Cancer research, 2003. *63*(24): p. 9023-9031.
- 4. Kaur, R., et al., *Structural features, modification, and functionalities of betaglucan.* Fibers, 2019. **8**(1): p. 1.
- 5. Nogueira, M., et al., *Quantitative analysis of Candida cell wall components by flow cytometrywith triple-fluorescence staining.* Journal of Microbiology and modern techniques, 2017.
- 6. Gow, N.A., et al., *Immune recognition of Candida albicans* **6***-glucan by dectin-1.* The Journal of infectious diseases, 2007. **196**(10): p. 1565-1571.
- Brown, G.D. and S. Gordon, *Fungal 8-glucans and mammalian immunity*. Immunity, 2003. 19(3): p. 311-315.
- 8. Brown, G.D., *Innate antifungal immunity: the key role of phagocytes.* Annual review of immunology, 2011. **29**: p. 1.
- 9. Saijo, S. and Y. Iwakura, *Dectin-1 and Dectin-2 in innate immunity against fungi.* International immunology, 2011. **23**(8): p. 467-472.
- 10. Wüthrich, M., G.S. Deepe Jr, and B. Klein, *Adaptive immunity to fungi.* Annual review of immunology, 2012. **30**: p. 115.
- 11. Verma, A., et al., *Adaptive immunity to fungi.* Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine, 2015. **5**(3): p. a019612.

- Ding, J., et al., *B*-Glucan induces autophagy in dendritic cells and influences
 T-cell differentiation. Medical microbiology and immunology, 2019. 208(1): p.
 39-48.
- Silva, S., et al., Candida glabrata, Candida parapsilosis and Candida tropicalis: biology, epidemiology, pathogenicity and antifungal resistance.
 FEMS microbiology reviews, 2012. 36(2): p. 288-305.
- 14. Brieland, J., et al., *Comparison of pathogenesis and host immune responses* to Candida glabrata and Candida albicans in systemically infected *immunocompetent mice.* Infection and immunity, 2001. **69**(8): p. 5046-5055.
- Charlet, R., et al., A decrease in anaerobic bacteria promotes Candida glabrata overgrowth while **6**-glucan treatment restores the gut microbiota and attenuates colitis. Gut pathogens, 2018. **10**(1): p. 1-9.
- 16. Waisman, A., et al. *Dendritic cells as gatekeepers of tolerance*. in *Seminars in immunopathology*. 2017. Springer.
- 17. Tisch, R., *Immunogenic versus tolerogenic dendritic cells: a matter of maturation.* International reviews of immunology, 2010. **29**(2): p. 111-118.
- Srivastava, S., et al., A characterization of dendritic cells and their role in immunotherapy in glioblastoma: from preclinical studies to clinical trials. Cancers, 2019. 11(4): p. 537.
- Hilkens, C.M., J.D. Isaacs, and A.W. Thomson, *Development of dendritic cell-based immunotherapy for autoimmunity*. International reviews of immunology, 2010. 29(2): p. 156-183.
- 20. Domogalla, M.P., et al., *Tolerance through education: how tolerogenic dendritic cells shape immunity.* Frontiers in immunology, 2017. **8**: p. 1764.
- 21. Papenfuss, T.L., et al., *Estriol generates tolerogenic dendritic cells in vivo that protect against autoimmunity.* The Journal of Immunology, 2011. **186**(6): p. 3346-3355.
- 22. Escobar, A., et al., Tolerogenic dendritic cells derived from donors with natural rubber latex allergy modulate allergen-specific T-cell responses and IgE production. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(1): p. e85930.

- 23. Meena, D., et al., *Beta-glucan: an ideal immunostimulant in aquaculture (a review).* Fish physiology and biochemistry, 2013. **39**(3): p. 431-457.
- 24. Murphy, E.A., J.M. Davis, and M.D. Carmichael, *Immune modulating effects of B*-glucan. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care, 2010. 13(6):
 p. 656-661.
- Kim, H.S., et al., Stimulatory effect of **6**-glucans on immune cells. Immune network, 2011. **11**(4): p. 191-195.
- Geller, A., R. Shrestha, and J. Yan, Yeast-Derived **8**-Glucan in Cancer: Novel Uses of a Traditional Therapeutic. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2019. **20**(15): p. 3618.
- 27. Cao, Y., et al., Yeast **B**-glucan suppresses the chronic inflammation and improves the microenvironment in adipose tissues of ob/ob mice. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2018. **66**(3): p. 621-629.
- Smeekens, S.P., et al., An anti-inflammatory property of Candida albicans *6*glucan: induction of high levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist via a Dectin-1/CR3 independent mechanism. Cytokine, 2015. **71**(2): p. 215-222.
- 29. Chen, Y., et al., 1, 3-β-Glucan affects the balance of Th1/Th2 cytokines by promoting secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines in vitro. Molecular medicine reports, 2013. **8**(2): p. 708-712.
- 30. Zyła, E., et al., Anti-inflammatory activity of oat beta-glucans in a Crohn's disease model: Time-and molar mass-dependent effects. International journal of molecular sciences, 2021. **22**(9): p. 4485.
- Mejía, S.M.V., A. de Francisco, and B. Bohrer, A comprehensive review on cereal *B*-glucan: Extraction, characterization, causes of degradation, and food application. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition, 2020. 60(21): p. 3693-3704.
- Fesel, P.H. and A. Zuccaro, *B*-glucan: Crucial component of the fungal cell wall and elusive MAMP in plants. Fungal Genetics and Biology, 2016. 90: p. 53-60.

- Yang, Y.-L., *Virulence factors of Candida species.* Journal of Microbiology Immunology and Infection, 2003. 36(4): p. 223-228.
- Garcia-Rubio, R., et al., *The fungal cell wall: Candida, Cryptococcus, and Aspergillus species.* Frontiers in microbiology, 2020. 10: p. 2993.
- Liu, Y., et al., Structure, preparation, modification, and bioactivities of **6**glucan and mannan from yeast cell wall: A review. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 2021. **173**: p. 445-456.
- 36. Netea, M.G., et al., *Immune defence against Candida fungal infections.* Nature Reviews Immunology, 2015. **15**(10): p. 630-642.
- Martínez-Álvarez, J.A., et al., *The immune response against Candida spp. and* Sporothrix schenckii. Revista Iberoamericana de Micología, 2014. **31**(1): p. 62-66.
- 38. Richardson, J.P. and D.L. Moyes, *Adaptive immune responses to Candida albicans infection*. Virulence, 2015. **6**(4): p. 327-337.
- Dinh, T.T.H., et al., Interaction Between Dendritic Cells and Candida krusei *B*-Glucan Partially Depends on Dectin-1 and It Promotes High IL-10 Production by T Cells. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology, 2021. 10: p. 566661.
- 40. Marakalala, M.J., et al., *Differential adaptation of Candida albicans in vivo modulates immune recognition by dectin-1.* PLoS pathogens, 2013. **9**(4): p. e1003315.
- 41. Chen, S.M., et al., *Dectin-1 plays an important role in host defense against systemic Candida glabrata infection.* Virulence, 2017. **8**(8): p. 1643-1656.
- 42. Eisenbarth, S., *Dendritic cell subsets in T cell programming: location dictates function.* Nature Reviews Immunology, 2019. **19**(2): p. 89-103.
- Anthony, R.M., et al., *Protective immune mechanisms in helminth infection.*Nature Reviews Immunology, 2007. 7(12): p. 975-987.
- Becattini, S., et al., Functional heterogeneity of human memory CD4+ T cell clones primed by pathogens or vaccines. Science, 2015. 347(6220): p. 400-406.

- 45. Hernández-Santos, N., et al., *Th17 cells confer long-term adaptive immunity* to oral mucosal Candida albicans infections. Mucosal immunology, 2013.
 6(5): p. 900-910.
- 46. Acosta-Rodriguez, E.V., et al., Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. Nature immunology, 2007. 8(6): p. 639-646.
- 47. Kapteyn, J., et al., *The cell wall architecture of Candida albicans wild -type cells and cell wall -defective mutants.* Molecular microbiology, 2000. 35(3): p. 601-611.
- 48. De Groot, P.W., et al., The cell wall of the human pathogen Candida glabrata: differential incorporation of novel adhesin-like wall proteins.
 Eukaryotic cell, 2008. 7(11): p. 1951-1964.
- 49. Fidel Jr, P.L., J.A. Vazquez, and J.D. Sobel, *Candida glabrata: review of epidemiology, pathogenesis, and clinical disease with comparison to C. albicans.* Clinical microbiology reviews, 1999. **12**(1): p. 80-96.
- 50. Wächtler, B., et al., *Candida albicans-epithelial interactions: dissecting the roles of active penetration, induced endocytosis and host factors on the infection process.* PloS one, 2012. **7**(5): p. e36952.
- 51. Brunke, S. and B. Hube, *Two unlike cousins: C andida albicans and C. glabrata infection strategies.* Cellular microbiology, 2013. **15**(5): p. 701-708.
- Perlroth, J., B. Choi, and B. Spellberg, *Nosocomial fungal infections:* epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment. Medical mycology, 2007. 45(4): p. 321-346.
- 53. Keppler-Ross, S., et al., *Recognition of yeast by murine macrophages requires mannan but not glucan.* Eukaryotic Cell, 2010. **9**(11): p. 1776-1787.
- 54. Pearce, E.J. and B. Everts, *Dendritic cell metabolism*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2015. **15**(1): p. 18-29.
- 55. Devi, K.S.P. and N. Anandasabapathy. *The origin of DCs and capacity for immunologic tolerance in central and peripheral tissues.* in *Seminars in immunopathology.* 2017. Springer.

- 56. Hammer, G.E. and A. Ma, *Molecular control of steady-state dendritic cell maturation and immune homeostasis.* Annual review of immunology, 2013.
 31: p. 743.
- 57. Kim, S.J. and B. Diamond. *Modulation of tolerogenic dendritic cells and autoimmunity*. in *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*. 2015. Elsevier.
- 58. Huang, R.-Y., et al., *Immunosuppressive effect of quercetin on dendritic cell activation and function.* The Journal of Immunology, 2010. **184**(12): p. 6815-6821.
- 59. Ng, S.C., et al., Immunosuppressive effects via human intestinal dendritic cells of probiotic bacteria and steroids in the treatment of acute ulcerative colitis.
 Inflammatory bowel diseases, 2010. 16(8): p. 1286-1298.
- 60. Torres-Poveda, K., et al., *Role of IL-10 and TGF-***6***1 in local immunosuppression in HPV-associated cervical neoplasia.* World journal of clinical oncology, 2014. **5**(4): p. 753.
- 61. Hart, K.M., et al., *IL-10 immunomodulation of myeloid cells regulates a murine model of ovarian cancer.* Frontiers in immunology, 2011. **2**: p. 29.
- 62. Iberg, C.A. and D. Hawiger, *Natural and induced tolerogenic dendritic cells.* The Journal of Immunology, 2020. **204**(4): p. 733-744.
- 63. de Jong, E.C., H.H. Smits, and M.L. Kapsenberg. *Dendritic cell-mediated T cell polarization*. in *Springer seminars in immunopathology*. 2005. Springer.
- 64. Kapsenberg, M.L., *Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization.* Nature Reviews Immunology, 2003. **3**(12): p. 984-993.
- 65. Corripio-Miyar, Y., et al., *Functionally distinct T-helper cell phenotypes predict resistance to different types of parasites in a wild mammal.* Scientific Reports, 2022. **12**(1): p. 3197.
- 66. Schulz, E.G., et al., Sequential polarization and imprinting of type 1 T helper lymphocytes by interferon-γ and interleukin-12. Immunity, 2009. 30(5): p. 673-683.

- 67. Pritchard, D., C. Hewitt, and R. Moqbel, *The relationship between immunological responsiveness controlled by T-helper 2 lymphocytes and infections with parasitic helminths.* Parasitology, 1997. **115**(7): p. 33-44.
- 68. O'Shea, J.J., A. Ma, and P. Lipsky, *Cytokines and autoimmunity.* Nature Reviews Immunology, 2002. **2**(1): p. 37-45.
- 69. Zhang, S., The role of transforming growth factor *B* in T helper 17 differentiation. Immunology, 2018. **155**(1): p. 24-35.
- 70. Gavin, M.A., et al., *Foxp3-dependent programme of regulatory T-cell differentiation.* Nature, 2007. **445**(7129): p. 771-775.
- Scholzen, A., et al., Plasmodium falciparum-mediated induction of human CD25hiFoxp3hi CD4 T cells is independent of direct TCR stimulation and requires IL-2, IL-10 and TGF 6. PLoS pathogens, 2009. 5(8): p. e1000543.
- 72. Borchers, A.T., et al., *The geoepidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus.* Autoimmunity reviews, 2010. **9**(5): p. A277-A287.
- 73. Maidhof, W. and O. Hilas, *Lupus: an overview of the disease and management options.* Pharmacy and Therapeutics, 2012. **37**(4): p. 240.
- 74. Fava, A. and M. Petri, *Systemic lupus erythematosus: diagnosis and clinical management.* Journal of autoimmunity, 2019. **96**: p. 1-13.
- 75. Tsokos, G.C., et al., *New insights into the immunopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus.* Nature Reviews Rheumatology, 2016. **12**(12): p. 716-730.
- 76. Mok, C.C., *Biomarkers for lupus nephritis: a critical appraisal.* Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology, 2010. **2010**.
- Smith, K.G. and M.R. Clatworthy, FcYRIIB in autoimmunity and infection: evolutionary and therapeutic implications. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2010. 10(5): p. 328-343.
- Bolland, S. and J.V. Ravetch, Spontaneous autoimmune disease in FcγRIIBdeficient mice results from strain-specific epistasis. Immunity, 2000. 13(2): p. 277-285.

- 79. Helft, J., et al., GM-CSF mouse bone marrow cultures comprise a heterogeneous population of CD11c+ MHCII+ macrophages and dendritic cells. Immunity, 2015. 42(6): p. 1197-1211.
- 80. Zhang, L., et al., *Pharmacokinetics and tolerance study of intravitreal injection of dexamethasone-loaded nanoparticles in rabbits.* International journal of nanomedicine, 2009. **4**: p. 175.
- 81. Stock, P., et al., *Respiratory tolerance is inhibited by the administration of corticosteroids.* The Journal of Immunology, 2005. **175**(11): p. 7380-7387.
- 82. Clement, L.T., A.B. Tilden, and N.E. Dunlap, *Analysis of the monocyte Fc* receptors and antibody-mediated cellular interactions required for the induction of T cell proliferation by anti-T3 antibodies. The Journal of Immunology, 1985. **135**(1): p. 165-171.
- Zhu, J. and W.E. Paul, *Heterogeneity and plasticity of T helper cells*. Cell research, 2010. 20(1): p. 4-12.
- 84. Abbas, A.K., et al., *Revisiting IL-2: Biology and therapeutic prospects.* Science immunology, 2018. **3**(25): p. eaat1482.
- 85. Fietta, P. and G. Delsante. *The effector T helper cell triade*. in *Biology Forum/Rivista di Biologia*. 2009.
- 86. Matasić, R., A.B. Dietz, and S. Vuk-Pavlović, *Dexamethasone inhibits dendritic cell maturation by redirecting differentiation of a subset of cells.* Journal of leukocyte biology, 1999. **66**(6): p. 909-914.
- Xia, C.Q., et al., Dexamethasone induces IL -10 -producing monocyte -derived dendritic cells with durable immaturity. Scandinavian journal of immunology, 2005. 62(1): p. 45-54.
- Kim, S.-H., et al., Induction of antigen-specific immune tolerance using biodegradable nanoparticles containing antigen and dexamethasone.
 International Journal of Nanomedicine, 2019. 14: p. 5229.
- 89. Tuettenberg, A., et al., *CD40 signalling induces IL -10 -producing, tolerogenic dendritic cells.* Experimental dermatology, 2010. **19**(1): p. 44-53.

- 90. Akbari, O., R.H. DeKruyff, and D.T. Umetsu, *Pulmonary dendritic cells* producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. Nature immunology, 2001. **2**(8): p. 725-731.
- 91. Shiokawa, A., et al., *IL-10 and IL-27 producing dendritic cells capable of enhancing IL-10 production of T cells are induced in oral tolerance.*Immunology letters, 2009. **125**(1): p. 7-14.
- 92. Chu, C.-C., et al., *Resident CD141 (BDCA3)+ dendritic cells in human skin produce IL-10 and induce regulatory T cells that suppress skin inflammation.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2012. **209**(5): p. 935-945.
- 93. Smits, H.H., et al., Selective probiotic bacteria induce IL-10–producing regulatory T cells in vitro by modulating dendritic cell function through dendritic cell–specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3–grabbing nonintegrin. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2005. **115**(6): p. 1260-1267.
- 94. Arana, D.M., et al., *The role of the cell wall in fungal pathogenesis.* Microbial biotechnology, 2009. **2**(3): p. 308-320.
- 95. Ifrim, D.C., et al., *Role of Dectin-2 for host defense against systemic infection with Candida glabrata.* Infection and immunity, 2014. **82**(3): p. 1064-1073.
- 96. Akdis, C.A. and M. Akdis, *Mechanisms of immune tolerance to allergens: role of IL-10 and Tregs.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 2014. **124**(11): p. 4678-4680.
- 97. Verbeek, J.S., S. Hirose, and H. Nishimura, *The complex association of Fc***γ***Rlb* with autoimmune susceptibility. Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. **10**: p. 2061.
- 98. Issara-Amphorn, J., et al., *Syk inhibitor attenuates polymicrobial sepsis in FcgRIIb-deficient lupus mouse model, the impact of lupus characteristics in sepsis.* Journal of Innate Immunity, 2020. **12**(6): p. 461-479.
- 99. Basta, F., et al., *Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) therapy: the old and the new.* Rheumatology and Therapy, 2020. **7**(3): p. 433-446.
- Durcan, L., T. O'Dwyer, and M. Petri, *Management strategies and future directions for systemic lupus erythematosus in adults.* The Lancet, 2019.
 393(10188): p. 2332-2343.

- 101. Connelly, K. and E.F. Morand, *Systemic lupus erythematosus: a clinical update.* Internal medicine journal, 2021. **51**(8): p. 1219-1228.
- Bagavant, H., et al., Role for nephritogenic T cells in lupus glomerulonephritis: progression to renal failure is accompanied by T cell activation and expansion in regional lymph nodes. The Journal of Immunology, 2006.
 177(11): p. 8258-8265.
- 103. Charles, N., et al., *Basophils and the T helper 2 environment can promote the development of lupus nephritis.* Nature medicine, 2010. **16**(6): p. 701-707.
- 104. Facciotti, F., et al., Evidence for a pathogenic role of extrafollicular, IL-10– producing CCR6+ B helper T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2020. 117(13): p. 7305-7316.



VITA

NAME	Phawida Tummamunkong
DATE OF BIRTH	21 May 1991
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok, Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTEN	DED 2014: B.Sc (Microbiology, Microbiology), Naresuan university Present: M.Sc. (Graduate School, Medical Microbiology),
Home Address	107 Chaiyakarn apartment, Soi Prayadamrong, Rama IV road, Mahapruttaram, Bangrak, 10500
PUBLICATION	Tummamunkong, P., Jaree, P., Tassanakajon, A., &
	under the influence of PmVRP15 suppression. Fish & Shellfish
	Dinh, T. T. H., Tummamunkong, P., Padungros, P., Ponpakdee,
	P., Boonprakong, L., Saisorn, W., Leelahavanichkul, A., Kueanjinda, P., & Ritprajak, P. (2021). Interaction Between
	Dendritic Cells and Candida krusei β -Glucan Partially Depends on Dectin-1 and It Promotes High IL-10 Production by T Cells. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology, 10, 566661.
AWARD RECEIVED	Second Runner-Up Award (Oral Presentation - Proceeding) in 11th Disruptive Innovation Medicine on March 31st, 2023 on
	the topic of the effect of Candida glabrata β -glucans on immunosuppressive properties of dendritic cells. Golden Jubilee Medical Center, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital,
	ivianidol University.